# PhD in English

Rev. June 2023

DEPARTMENT OF ENGLISH

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Admissions	1
Transfer of Credits	1
II. Course Requirements	1
Required Coursework	1
Coursework Policies	1
Core Courses	2
Pedagogy Coursework	2
Certification of Completion of Coursework	2
III. Language Requirement	2
Outline of the Language Requirement	3
Language Requirement Policies	3
Certification of the Language Requirement	3
Teaching Requirement	4
IV. Project Exams	4
The Project Committee	4
Components of the Project Exams	4
The Project Proposal & Bibliography	4
Project Papers & Revised Bibliography	5
Written & Oral Project Examinations	5
Earning the MA	6
V. Prospectus	7
Formation of the Dissertation Committee	7
The Prospectus	7
Prospectus Meeting & Approval	7
Admission to Doctoral Candidacy	8
VI. Dissertation	
The Doctoral Examination (Defense)	
Statute of Limitations	Q

# I. ADMISSIONS

Individuals must have a US bachelor's degree or its equivalent from an approved undergraduate institution to apply for admission to the English PhD Program in English. Applicants with a master's degree or its equivalent are also invited to apply. A previous master's degree is not required to be considered for admission to the PhD program.

#### TRANSFER OF CREDITS

Students will not ordinarily be allowed to transfer credits from previous degrees toward their PhD coursework requirements. With the approval of the Director of Graduate Studies, students who earned a previous graduate degree at the University of Pittsburgh may count up to 6 credits of graduate coursework in the Department of English to satisfy requirements for the PhD.

The principal exception is for the PhD's language requirement. See the "Language Requirement" section below, under "Additional Language Requirement Policies."

# II. COURSE REQUIREMENTS

The Dietrich School of Arts & Sciences at the University of Pittsburgh requires that students complete a minimum of 72 credits at the 2000-level or above to graduate with the PhD. Of these 72 credits, 34 credits will be earned through seminars or required courses for the English PhD.

# REQUIRED COURSEWORK

The following course of study comprises the required coursework for the English PhD:

- ENGLIT 2993: Introduction to Graduate Study (1 credit) in the fall of the student's first year
- 2. ENGLIT 2500: Seminar in Pedagogy (3 credits) in the spring of the student's first year
- 3. ENGLIT 2995: Dissertation Workshop (3 credits) to be completed as soon as possible after the student passes comprehensive exams (held in the fall of each academic year)
- 4. Three core courses (3 credits each), at least two of which must be in the student's home program (Composition, Film, or Literature)
- 5. Six elective courses (3 credits each) approved by the student's faculty advisor

The remaining credits of coursework shall be taken in the form of graduate seminars approved by the student's faculty advisor, or as dummy credits. Depending on the student's degree progress, this would either be ENGLIT 3910 (Comprehensive Exams), ENGLIT 3000 (Dissertation Research), or FTDA 3999 (Full-Time Dissertation Study in the Humanities).

#### **COURSEWORK POLICIES**

# COURSES OUTSIDE THE DEPARTMENT:

Ordinarily, no more than 1 seminar (3 credits) shall be taken outside the English department. Students pursuing the Interdisciplinary Film & Media Studies PhD may take up to 2 courses (6 credits) outside the English department, in order to fulfill the requirements of the FMS degree. If a student wishes to take additional courses

outside the English department, they and their faculty advisor must petition the DGS with a rationale explaining why the additional courses outside the department are necessary.

#### **DIRECTED STUDIES**

A student may count no more than 1 Directed Study (3 credits) toward the PhD. See the Introduction to the Graduate Handbook, Section IV.C, for additional policies governing Directed Studies.

#### UNDERGRADUATE COURSES FOR GRADUATE CREDIT

Enrollment in undergraduate courses for graduate credit is by petition only. Only 1000-level undergraduate courses may be taken for graduate credit. The student & their faculty advisor will each submit a rationale to the DGS explaining why the undergraduate course is necessary. If approved by the DGS, a graduate component in the form of additional and advanced readings and writings must be devised by the instructor. Students must also inform the Graduate Administrator and register for 3 credits of ENGLIT 3910 (Comprehensive Exams) or ENGLIT 3000 (Dissertation Research), in addition to enrolling in the undergraduate course itself, to receive credit towards the PhD. An outline of the graduate component should be placed in the student's file.

#### **CORE COURSES**

Students must take at least 3 core courses (9 credits in total), 2 of which must be in the student's home program. These courses must be completed with a grade of B or better to count towards the degree requirements.

#### PEDAGOGY COURSEWORK

ENGLIT 2996 (Writing Pedagogy 1) and ENGLIT 2997 (Writing Pedagogy 2) are required courses as a condition of students' appointments as Teaching Assistants (TAs) or Teaching Fellows (TFs). They will normally be taken in the second year of the PhD Program.

#### CERTIFICATION OF COMPLETION OF COURSEWORK

Prior to scheduling Project Examinations, the student must communicate with the chair of their Projects Committee about their transcript. The chair must certify that the student has completed all coursework, using the "PhD Requirements Certification Form." This form must be submitted to the Graduate Administrator when scheduling the student's written Project Exams.

# III. LANGUAGE REQUIREMENT

It is important for scholars in the humanities not to be monolingual, as knowledge of languages can be important to PhD students in a number of ways. This requirement asks students to advance their knowledge of at least one language other than English as part of their graduate studies unless they have already made the study of languages a significant part of their education.

This requirement must be completed before taking the PhD Project Exams, unless a deferral is approved by the Director of Graduate Studies. Any language relevant to the student's doctoral work or, more generally, to the anticipated conditions of future scholarship and teaching may fulfill this requirement.

# **OUTLINE OF THE LANGUAGE REQUIREMENT**

Students may fulfill the language requirement in one of three ways: a reading knowledge of two languages, undertaking advanced study of one language, or beginning a new language.

- 1. Reading Knowledge of Two Languages: Students may demonstrate a reading knowledge of two languages, in one of the following ways:
  - a. A student may pass an examination administered by a faculty member in a University of Pittsburgh language department. In the case where there is no faculty member here able to examine the student, the student may demonstrate reading knowledge of a language via examination by a faculty member at another institution. Such an arrangement must be approved by the Director of Graduate Studies.
  - b. A student may earn a B or better in a fourth-semester language course or a course designed to provide an equivalent reading knowledge of a language. The courses that satisfy this requirement vary by language department; students should consult with the Director of Graduate Studies, who can provide a list of current courses at the University of Pittsburgh that fulfill the requirement. Students who would like to fulfill this requirement on the basis of coursework completed at another institution must apply to the Director of Graduate Studies, who will determine whether the coursework is equivalent.
  - c. A student may petition the Director of Graduate Studies to count other evidence of reading knowledge of another language, such as translation work, fulfillment of a comparable language requirement in another graduate program, completion of equivalent coursework at another institution, or previous schooling in which the language was the language of instruction.
- 2. Advanced Study in One Language: Students may demonstrate that they have undertaken advanced study in one language other than English by earning a B or better in an upper-level undergraduate course or graduate seminar in which materials in the language (in any medium) are examined or produced or in which the language is studied or employed in a more advanced or intensive way. The instructor of the course must certify in writing to the Director of Graduate Studies that the student demonstrated facility in the language by completing course readings in the language or by using the language in discussion, translation work, or composition.
- 3. Beginning Knowledge of a New Language: students who prefer to begin studying a language (either because they have not seriously studied a language other than English before or because they have a reason to take up a new language) may fulfill the language requirement by achieving a grade of B or better in a second-semester course in the language, or in one intensive course (usually requiring 5 credits or more).

#### LANGUAGE REQUIREMENT POLICIES

- 1. A student may not use English to fulfill the language requirement.
- Students who have satisfied a language requirement at another recognized graduate school may
  request that this be accepted as fulfilling the English Department's language requirement. All proof of
  language ability transferred from an examination at another university will satisfy the requirement of
  reading knowledge only.

#### CERTIFICATION OF THE LANGUAGE REQUIREMENT

Prior to scheduling Project Exams, the chair of the student's Project Committee must certify that the student has completed the language requirement, as part of the "PhD Requirements Certification Form." This form should be submitted to the Graduate Administrator when scheduling the student's written Project Exams.

# TEACHING REQUIREMENT

All PhD students are required to teach for at least two semesters and complete ENGLIT 2500 (Seminar in Pedagogy). Any exceptions to this policy must be approved by appeal to the Director of Graduate Studies.

# IV. PROJECT EXAMS

The PhD Project Exams fulfill the University's requirement for a comprehensive examination prior to initiating dissertation work. One of the more important functions of the Project is to provide students with an opportunity to generate questions that will guide their research, the answers to which will likely surprise them. The Project is meant to demonstrate a breadth of knowledge in tandem with the ability to work on a particular problem or an interrelated set of issues. The PhD Project exam involves an historical and theoretical exploration defined by a set of questions or problems; an investigation that will build a strong intellectual base for more detailed work at the dissertation stage, and will draw on material that could be useful for research and teaching beyond the dissertation; and a way of making connections among various interests a student has explored through seminar papers and other work from a broad range of courses taken.

#### THE PROJECT COMMITTEE

Each student will form a Project Committee of three or more Department of English Graduate Faculty members, with one member serving as the chair. Students should form their Project Committees no later than the end of the fall term of their third year, or their fifth term of residence in the program. Students should inform the Director of Graduate Studies and the Graduate Administrator in writing once their Project Committee has been formed.

#### COMPONENTS OF THE PROJECT EXAMS

The PhD Project Exams proceeds in three main steps: The Project Proposal & Bibliography; the Project Papers; and the written and oral Project Examinations.

#### THE PROJECT PROPOSAL & BIBLIOGRAPHY

The Project Proposal is a 5-page, double-spaced document that describes the issues and goals of the student's Project and is accompanied by a bibliography that will guide the student's research and reading over the course of that Project. This proposal outlines a set of questions, concerns, and areas of inquiry; almost inevitably it will be somewhat revised as a result of ongoing study. Yet it should also set some necessary limits on the material being studied. The proposal should:

- Outline the questions, methodologies, and resources that will be involved in completing the Project.
- 2. Situate the Project with respect to critical issues in the disciplinary fields under study.
- 3. Explain the goals of the project, why the Project should be constituted in the manner proposed by the student, and how the goals of the Project will be realized by the Project Papers.

The Project Bibliography accompanying the Project Proposal should:

- 1. Identify a set of primary source materials relevant to the Project.
- 2. Identify readings from the disciplinary fields under study.
- 3. Indicate the breadth of reading and research to be undertaken over the course of the Project as a whole.

Once the members of the Project Committee agree that the proposal is ready, the committee must convene to advise the student and sign the Project Proposal Approval Form, blank copies of which can be obtained from the Graduate Administrator. The Project Prosposal, Bibliography, and cover sheet should be sent to the Graduate Administrator to be deposited in the student's file and retained by the department for purposes of assessment. In order to make good degree progress, students must have their Project Proposals & Bibliographies approved by their committee and sent to the Graduate Administrator no later than the last day of the spring semester of their third year.

#### PROJECT PAPERS & REVISED BIBLIOGRAPHY

Once the Project Proposal & Bibliography are approved, students will write two Project Papers in consultation with their Project Committee. Each Project Paper should be 20-30 double-spaced pages each, further developing the issues outlined in the Proposal. Committees may ask that each paper be accompanied by a critical or annotated bibliography of items & sources that informed the research and thinking for the paper but were not explicitly included in the paper.

The two papers will be composed as follows:

**Paper 1:** The function of this paper is to situate the Project concerns within the disciplinary fields under study, as defined by the student in consultation with their Project Committee.

**Paper 2:** The function of this paper is to articulate & explore in depth a few of the most salient issues of the Project as imagined by the Project Proposal.

The student may also submit a revised Project Bibliography reflecting the works on which they would like to be examined during their Project Examinations. This bibliography may also delete items from the initial Project Bibliography and add new ones. The revised Project Bibliography must be similar to the first one in terms of topic, scope, and number of works, and it must meet with the approval of the Project Committee.

Students should expect to have both Project Papers & the Revised Bibliography drafted no later than the end of August before their fourth year in the program, so that final revisions can be prepared in a timely manner. The Project Papers must be completed and submitted to the Project committee no later than 15 October of the student's fourth year.

# WRITTEN & ORAL PROJECT EXAMINATIONS

The written & oral components of the Project Examinations explore issues and questions raised by the Project Proposal, the revised Project Bibliography, and the Project Papers. After the Project committee receives the Project Papers and revised Project Bibliography, each committee member will submit questions to the Project committee chair, who will then compose the written exams and will schedule two three-hour written exam segments. The student may take their written examinations on two successive days, or on a morning and afternoon with a restorative break in between. In addition to the three hours of exam-writing, the student will be

allowed fifteen minutes at the beginning to read and consider the questions, and fifteen minutes at the end for stylistic revision and proofreading (that is, each written exam segment will total three and one-half hours).

Because the written component of the Project Exam is administered by the Graduate Administrator, the Chair of the Project committee must give a copy of the exam questions to the Graduate Administrator. The Graduate Administrator will be responsible for giving the student exam questions, collecting the written exam answers at the end of each segment, and distributing the answers to the Project committee. A copy of the exam and the student's answers will be deposited in their file.

The two written exam segments will be composed as follows:

**Segment 1:** this portion of the exam will focus on matters not substantially addressed in the two Project Papers but are important to the disciplinary fields under study as established in the student's Project Proposal and Revised Project Bibliography.

**Segment 2:** This portion of the exam will focus on matters addressed in the two Project Papers, or broader matters important to the disciplinary fields under study as established in the student's Project Proposal and Revised Project Bibliography, or a combination of these.

After the written examination is complete, the Project Committee will conduct an oral examination of 1-2 hours. This exam may focus on issues in the Project Papers and the written examinations, in addition to raising other issues relevant to the Project as a whole. Following their oral examination, the student withdraws and waits for the Project Committee to come to a decision about the student's performance on both the written and oral portions of the examinations. In terms of judging whether or not a student has passed the Project Examinations, there is no fixed or quantitative relationship between the written and oral portions.

After the oral examination, the Project Committee members sign a Comprehensive Exam "Report on Exam" Milestone Card provided by the Graduate Administrator indicating whether the student has passed. This card must be signed by all committee members and sent to the Graduate Administrator to be filed with the Office of Graduate Studies. The Project Committee may pass the student with distinction if they believe the student's performance on the written and oral examinations warrant such recognition.

If a student fails the examinations, the Project Committee will discuss the reasons for failure with the student. Failed PhD Project Examinations may be repeated only with permission of the student's Project Committee. Project Examinations may be retaken only once and must be retaken within one academic term of the original examination date.

In order to make good degree progress, students must take the written & oral Project Examinations no later than the end of the fall semester in their 4<sup>th</sup> year in the program.

# EARNING THE MA

PhD students may elect to earn the MA as they progress in the PhD program, although they are not required to do so. If they wish to earn the MA, they must meet the coursework & foreign language requirements, and either successfully complete the Master's Research Paper (outlined in the MA portion of the Handbook) or successfully complete their PhD Project Examinations. Both options require students to apply to graduate through the instructions provided by the Graduate Administrator. Because the statute of limitations on MA degrees at the University of Pittsburgh is four years, any student who wishes to earn their MA must apply for it before the end of their fourth year in the program. After four years have passed, they become ineligible to receive this degree.

# V. PROSPECTUS

After a student has passed the Project examinations, they will register for ENGLIT 3000 (Dissertation Research for the PhD) in order to write a prospectus for their eventual dissertation. The student should choose a dissertation committee chair and the other members of the dissertation committee at this time.

#### FORMATION OF THE DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

A dissertation committee must consist of at least three members of the Graduate Faculty of the Department of English and an outside reader. The dissertation committee must have a designated chair, and they must be a member of the Graduate Faculty in the Department of English. The outside reader may be a member of the Graduate Faculty in another department at the University of Pittsburgh, or a faculty member from another University (in English or another department).

A faculty member at another university may also serve as a regular committee member. If they do so, they will be a fourth regular member, but there still must be three Graduate Faculty from the Department of English on every dissertation committee. A faculty member from another university may not chair a dissertation committee, although they may co-chair if the other committee members consent to this arrangement.

In order for a faculty member at another university to be able to serve on a dissertation committee in any capacity, they must be approved by the Assistant Graduate Dean. The student's chair must submit a letter to the Graduate Administrator justifying the appointment of this committee member, along with a copy of an updated *curriculum vitae* of the faculty member they are requesting approval for. The Graduate Administrator will submit these to the Graduate Office for consideration.

# THE PROSPECTUS

Once a dissertation committee has been formed, the student will submit a formal dissertation prospectus to their committee for approval. The prospectus will be approximately 10 double-spaced pages in length, and will be accompanied by an initial bibliography.

# PROSPECTUS MEETING & APPROVAL

The dissertation committee will meet with the student to discuss the prospectus. At this meeting, the student can expect to receive initial advice about the writing of the dissertation and appropriate research resources. Students must have their dissertation prospectus approved no later than the end of their fourth year in the program, or their eighth term in residence.

All members of the dissertation committee must be physically present at the prospectus meeting and dissertation defense unless permission for remote participation has been pre-approved by the Office of Graduate Studies. The Graduate Administrator forwards a request for remote participation to the Assistant Graduate Dean & the Graduate Student Services Coordintaor. If remote participation in the Prospectus Meeting is approved, the chair of the dissertation committee is responsible for monitoring the quality of remote participation and submitting a Remote Attendance Certification Form to the Graduate Administrator after the meeting concludes.

# ADMISSION TO DOCTORAL CANDIDACY

When the dissertation committee has approved the prospectus, the committee will fill out and sign an Application for Admission to Candidacy, which can be obtained from the Graduate Administrator. This form must also be signed by the department chair. The Graduate Administrator will submit this application to the Office of Graduate Studies. After the office reviews it, the Assistant Dean of Graduate Study will either approve or deny the student's application to candidacy and formalize the student's dissertation committee.

# VI. DISSERTATION

Once a student has passed their prospectus and has been admitted to candidacy, they should begin the work of researching and writing their dissertation. Typically students will complete the dissertation during their fifth and sixth year in the program. The practices of the current *MLA Style Sheet* or those found in the *Chicago Manual of Style* should be observed.

# THE DOCTORAL EXAMINATION (DEFENSE)

The completed dissertation, revised in accordance with the dissertation committee's suggestions, must be submitted at least two weeks before the anticipated date of the doctoral examination (otherwise known as the dissertation defense). Each dissertation committee member must be given a copy of the completed dissertation.

The dissertation committee will decide the form and length of the doctoral examination. The examination need not be confined to the materials in or related to the dissertation.

The student and dissertation committee chair should inform the Graduate Administrator of an impending dissertation defense. The name of the doctoral candidate, the date, and the subject of the dissertation must be submitted in the University Times Calendar at least a month in advance of the examination. Doctoral examinations are public.

Upon a student's completion of their examination, the Graduate Administrator will send the chair & committee a Dissertation Defense "Report on Exam" Milestone Card. All members of the committee and the chair must sign this card indicating the results of the exam. This will be submitted by the Graduate Administrator to the Office of Graduate Studies. Once the final dissertation is approved, the Graduate Administrator will send a second "Report on Exam" Milestone Card to report the committee's approval of the dissertation to the Graduate Office.

Students who pass the doctoral examination must submit a copy of their dissertation to Electronic Theses & Dissertations (ETD) as part of their application for graduation, along with other forms & surveys. Students should consult with the Graduate Administrator and the Assistant Director for Graduate Studies in the Office of Graduate Studies well in advance of their examination regarding the procedures & template for submitting electronic dissertations, and the application for graduation.

#### STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

All requirements for the doctoral degree must be completed within ten (10) calendar years of the student's first registration for graduate study if the student entered with only a bachelor's degree. If the student entered with a master's degree or its equivalent, they must complete the degree within eight (8) calendar years of study.